IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

•

:

:

CHARLES FREDERICK BARR, :

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,864

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

JUN 23 1995 CLERK SUPRE By Chief Deputy Clerk

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court in <u>Barr v. State</u>, _____ So.2d ____, 20 Fla.L.Weekly D1163 (Fla. 1st DCA May 12, 1995).

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Charles Frederick Barr, was convicted of armed robbery of a motor vehicle. On appeal to the district court, Barr argued his departure sentence was invalid, because it was based on criminal conduct for which he had not been convicted. <u>Barr</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly at D1163.

The facts were that Barr allegedly approached the victim in the parking lot at the Southern Bell Tower in Jacksonville as she arrived at work one morning, and demanded her car, which he took. When a police officer spotted him in the car, and

-1-

attempted to pull him over, Barr fled. According to the district court opinion:

> The chase occurred when traffic was heavy it was 8:00 a.m. rush-hour traffic, and speeds exceeded 125 miles per hour. Appellant made several illegal U-turns and almost caused several accidents during the chase.

Id. The jury convicted him of armed robbery.

Petitioner contended that, at most, this conduct constituted reckless driving, a misdemeanor for which he had been neither charged nor convicted. As a crime of which he had not been convicted, it did not support an upward departure from the guidelines. Nevertheless, the trial court departed from the recommended guidelines of 7 - 9 years, with a permitted range up to 12 years, and sentenced Barr to 25 years in prison. The reason for departure was that

> appellant displayed a flagrant disregard for the safety of others. According to the [trial] court, appellant's reckless driving during the course of the chase with the police exposed numerous innocent citizens to serious harm.

Id.

The district court affirmed, relying primarily on a 1984 case, <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Finding that "[a]ppellant, at least partially, relies on the case of <u>Felts</u>," the district court distinguished this later case which was approved by this court. <u>Felts v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), <u>approved</u>, 549 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1989). The district court found that <u>Felts</u> did not recite the facts on

-2-

which it relied in holding that departure was not warranted because the defendant had not been charged with reckless driving. The court concluded that it is not an element of reckless driving nor inherent in the charge that "a <u>large or numerous</u> number of people be exposed to harm" [emphasis in original]. Id.

Judge Ervin dissented; he would find the departure was invalid under Rule 3.701(d)(11), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, as it is a factor relating to the instant offense for which he was not convicted, i.e., reckless driving. The dissent reasoned that <u>Felts</u> and <u>State v. Tyner</u>, 506 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1987) required reversal. The dissent said:

> Rather than follow the above case law, the majority chooses instead to follow <u>Garcia</u>. <u>Garcia</u>, however, was decided before the two supreme court decisions cited in <u>Felts</u>, namely, <u>Williams</u> and <u>Tyner</u>, both of which held that rule 3.701(d)(11) prohibits departure sentences based on reasons relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained.

Id. at D1164 (Ervin, J., dissenting), citing <u>Williams v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1986).

Notice to invoke was timely filed, and this jurisdictional brief follows.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court opinion relied on its own 1984 case, and ignored later contrary cases from the Florida Supreme Court

-3-

in holding that a high-speed car chase following the theft of a car constituted a valid reason for departure.

Florida law, including decisions of this court, prohibit using as a reason for departure a crime of which the defendant was not convicted. Petitioner could have been, but was not, charged with reckless driving as a result of the car chase. Since he was not convicted of this crime, it was improper to use the chase as a reason for departure, either.

The district court's distinction that Barr allegedly endangered many people, and danger to "many" others is not inherent in reckless driving is bogus. Reckless driving applies no matter how many people were endangered, or indeed, even if only property were endangered.

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BELOW IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CON-FLICT WITH THESE DECISIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT: <u>STATE V. VARNER</u>, 616 SO.2D 988 (FLA. 1993); <u>STATE V. TYNER</u>, 506 SO.2D 405 (FLA. 1987), AND <u>WILLIAMS V. STATE</u>, 500 SO.2D 501 (FLA. 1986), AND THIS DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT: <u>BASS V. STATE</u>, 496 SO.2D 880 (FLA. 2D DCA 1986).

The cases relied on by the district court, primarily <u>Garcia</u>, <u>supra</u>, are factually distinguishable from the instant case, although their factual distinctions are problematic for this argument. More important is the fact that <u>Garcia</u> predated this court's decision in <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, by two years, and <u>Williams</u> superseded and effectively overruled <u>Garcia</u>. In <u>Wil-</u> <u>liams</u>, this court held that Rule 3.701(d)(11), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, precludes departure for an offense of which the defendant has not been convicted. 500 So. 2d at 503. Subsequent decisions of this court reaffirm this ruling. <u>See</u> <u>State v. Varner</u>, 616 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1993) (departure invalid if based on collateral conduct that is criminally punishable); <u>State v. Tyner</u>, <u>supra</u> (courts cannot consider for departure conduct arising out of the circumstances of an offense for which the defendant has not been convicted).

In <u>Varner</u>, the defendant was convicted of shooting into a building, shooting into a vehicle, and aggravated assault, but the departure was based on an allegation that Varner had threatened a witness prior to trial. This court held that, since Varner had not been convicted of witness tampering, the trial court erred in using this conduct as a reason for departure. 616 So. 2d at 988-989.

In <u>Tyner</u>, the defendant was convicted of armed burglary, and was initially charged with two counts of first degree murder. The murders were committed by a codefendant, and the murder charges against Tyner were subsequently dismissed. One of the reasons for departure was that two people were killed as a result of the armed burglary. Agreeing with the Second District, this court held that, even though the deaths were a direct result of the burglary, Rule 3.701(d)(11) prohibited the

- 5 -

departure because Tyner had not been convicted of the murders. <u>Tyner</u>, 506 So. 2d at 406.

In Felts v. State, 537 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), aff'd on other grounds, 549 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1989), the state argued at trial that the defendant's conduct, a high speed chase resulting in a fatal accident, was a valid reason to depart from the guidelines, citing <u>Garcia</u>, even though the defendant was not convicted of any offense relating to the chase or accident. The First District rejected the state's argument and held departure was invalid when based on conduct arising out of an offense for which no conviction was obtained. _Felts, 537 So. 2d at 998.

In <u>Bass v. State</u>, 496 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), also similar to the instant case, the Second District held the high speed chase was not a valid reason for departing from the guidelines, because it was a separate offense for which a conviction was not obtained. <u>Id</u>. at 881-82. <u>Bass</u> relied on the Second District's previous decision in <u>Tyner</u>, and as cited above, <u>Tyner</u> was later approved by this court. <u>Tyner v. State</u>, 491 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), <u>approved</u>, 506 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1987).

Not only has <u>Garcia</u> been implicitly overruled by intervening caselaw from this court, <u>Garcia</u> is also factually distinguishable from the instant case, because it involved

> a defendant who leads police on a highspeed chase, shoots at the police, and who is involved in a wreck during a high-speed chase. . .

> > -6-

Barr, 20 Fla.L.Weekly at D1163. While Barr was involved in a high-speed chase, he did not shoot at the police, nor did he cause any accident. Also, the district court omitted one highly relevant fact, which is that, while the chase occurred during the morning rush hour, it was primarily northbound on I-95, opposite the direction of most rush hour traffic (T-233).

On the other hand, the majority opinion also distinguished <u>Felts</u> from the instant case on the ground that the facts of <u>Felts</u> did not demonstrate "the nature of area where the high-speed chase occurred, the time of day. . ., and whether there were any other vehicles or people on the streets at the time the chase ensured." Yet, the majority relied on the <u>Garcia</u> opinion, which omitted the same facts, save one: that the chase occurred somewhere in Gainesville at 3:20 a.m., a time of day from which the court could judicially notice that it would be highly unlikely for there to be many vehicles or people, if any, on the street. Both <u>Felts</u> and <u>Garcia</u> also involved the defendants shooting at the police, a fact not present here.

While the facts distinguish <u>Garcia</u> from the instant case, these distinctions are problematic because Garcia 1) also could surely have been charged with other crimes as a result of shooting at the police and recklessly causing an accident, thus precluding departure based on such factors, and 2) the one useful fact indicates there was no danger to "many" others. The lack of danger to many others makes <u>Garcia</u> indistinguishable from <u>Felts</u> on the very fact, the key fact, that the district

-7-

court found to distinguish Felts from the instant case.

The similarity between <u>Garcia</u> and <u>Felts</u> demonstrates that the district court's distinction that danger to "many" others is not inherent in reckless driving is bogus. The reckless driving statute applies no matter how many people were endangered, or indeed, even if only property were endangered. <u>Barr</u>, 20 Fla.L.Weekly at D1164 (Ervin, J., dissenting).

Moreover, as the dissent pointed out, the real distinction between the instant case and those where "flagrant disregard for the safety of others" is a valid departure reason, involves situations where the conduct could not be separately charged as another crime. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Webster v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (approving departure based on flagrant disregard for safety of others where defendant shot the victim outside a nightclub in the presence of 30 to 40 witnesses, and there was evidence that one witness was within three feet of the victim). <u>Barr</u> at D1164. In conclusion, <u>Garcia</u> could not have reached the same result had the principles of <u>Williams</u>, <u>Tyner</u> and <u>Varner</u> been applied.

The range of holdings obviously indicates a need for this court to clarify the issue for the district courts. Important policy considerations support the need to hold the line on this principle. The most compelling is that a contrary ruling would effectively eliminate a defendant's constitutional right to trial. This court said in <u>Varner</u>:

Had Varner been charged and. . . sentenced for witness tampering, the guidelines would

- 8 -

not have permitted a sentence as great as the one he received. This result should not be permitted, because it fosters inconsistent sentencing based on similar facts. Such a state is contrary to the basic precepts underlying the sentencing guidelines.

616 So.2d at 988; <u>see also Barr</u> at D1164, n.2 (Ervin, J., dissenting) ("[p]ermitting deviation from the guidelines. . . would, in essence, be circumventing established legislative punishments by eliminating a trial"); <u>Williams</u>, 500 So.2d at 503 (characterized permitting punishment without a trial as a "Kafkaesque" situation).

The proper procedure is to separately charge and convict the defendant for each instance of criminal conduct. A departure based on conduct that constitutes a criminal offense, but for which the defendant was not convicted could effectively sentence a defendant to an incarceration period exceeding the maximum for the offense, as in the instant case. Barr was in effect sentenced to an additional 13 years for an offense which would have been only a misdemeanor had it been charged and tried. Id. at D1164.

-9-

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, appellant requests that this court exercise its discretion and accept review of this case.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER Fla. Bar No. 0513253 Assistant Public Defender Leon County Courthouse 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER