FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 17 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By _____Chief Deputy Clerk

CHARLES FREDERICK BARR,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: 85,864

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF - CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

SONYA ROEBUCK HORBELT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0937363

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Charles Frederick Barr, defendant and appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the First District's opinion below, which is contained in the appendix attached hereto, will be designated by the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

The supreme court . . [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

- 1 -

The conflict between decisions "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision," and "[n]either a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Further, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 135, 139 (Fla. 1980).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts appellant's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District's decision in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with decisions of this Court and any conflict between the first and second districts has been legislatively resolved. Thus, this court should deny review.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN <u>STATE V.</u> <u>VARNER</u>, 616 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1993), <u>STATE V.</u> <u>TYNER</u>, 506 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1987), <u>WILLIAMS</u> <u>V. STATE</u>, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986) OR <u>BASS</u> <u>V. STATE</u>, 496 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)?

In the instant case, the First District held that the departure sentence imposed was valid because it was based on "appellant's conduct surrounding his apprehension for the armed robbery. Because this conduct endangered the lives of many innocent persons and demonstrated a flagrant disregard for the safety of others, it constituted a clear and convincing reason for departure." (A 1-2). The First District noted that although appellant could have been charged with reckless driving as a result of the high-speed chase, the departure sentence was valid because "it is neither an element of the offense of reckless driving nor an inherent factor in a reckless driving charge that a <u>large or numerous</u> number of people be exposed to serious harm." (A 5-6).

The First District's decision does not conflict with <u>State</u> <u>v. Varner</u>, 616 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1993), <u>State v. Tyner</u>, 506 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1987), or <u>Williams v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986). Those decisions hold that a departure sentence cannot be based on a crime for which the defendant was not convicted. In <u>Tyner</u>, the defendant was convicted of robbery and the trial court

- 5 -

departed based on two murders for which the defendant was not convicted. In <u>Williams</u>, the defendant was convicted of burglary and theft charges and a departure sentence was imposed based on the defendant's failure to appear for sentencing. In <u>Varner</u>, the defendant was convicted of firearms charges and aggravated assault and a departure sentence was imposed based on witness tampering. In the instant case, the departure sentence was not based on the fact that appellant had committed the offense of reckless driving, it was based on his endangering numerous people in his attempt to avoid apprehension for the robbery for which he was convicted. Thus, the decision in the instant case does not conflict with the foregoing decisions of this court.

The First District's decision superficially appears to conflict with the decision of the Second District in Bass v. State, 496 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). In Bass, interpreting then extant statutes, the court recognized that a departure sentence based on the endangerment of many lives is valid but held that this was not true when the conduct which endangered lives could have resulted in a charge of reckless driving. Id. Bass was almost certainly erroneous because it at 881-882. infringed on the constitutional right of the prosecutor to select charges and the statutory authority of the trial judge to consider the circumstances of the crime in determining the Regardless, <u>Bass</u> is now moot because section sentence imposed. 921.0016(3)(i), Florida Statutes (1993) has been adopted to specifically provide that a departure sentence based on "a substantial risk of death or great bodily harm to many persons"

- 6 -

is valid. Thus, any conflict which may have existed between the first and second districts has been resolved and this court should deny review.

Review should be denied.

Respectfully Submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL 1

SONYA ROEBUCK HORBELT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0937363

JAMES W. ROGERS

BUREAU CHIEF - CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT TCR# 95-110961